

Geochemical interpretation of groundwaters from Finnsjön, Sweden

Ignasi Puigdomènech¹ Kirk Nordström²

¹Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm ²U S Geological Survey, Menlo Park, California

August 23, 1987

SVENSK KÄRNBRÄNSLEHANTERING AB SWEDISH NUCLEAR FUEL AND WASTE MANAGEMENT CO BOX 5864 S-102 48 STOCKHOLM TEL 08-665 28 00 TELEX 13108-SKB

GEOCHEMICAL INTERPRETATION OF GROUNDWATERS FROM FINNSJÖN, SWEDEN

Ignasi Puigdomènech¹ and Kirk Nordstrom²

- 1 Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm
- 2 U S Geological Survey, Menlo Park, California

August 23, 1987

This report concerns a study which was conducted for SKB. The conclusions and viewpoints presented in the report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily coincide with those of the client.

Information on KBS technical reports from 1977-1978 (TR 121), 1979 (TR 79-28), 1980 (TR 80-26), 1981 (TR 81-17), 1982 (TR 82-28), 1983 (TR 83-77), 1984 (TR 85-01), 1985 (TR 85-20) and 1986 (TR 86-31) is available through SKB.

Geochemical interpretation of groundwaters from Finnsjön, Sweden

Ignasi Puigdomènech^{*} Dept. Inorganic Chemistry Royal Institute of Technology S-100 44 Stockholm

D. Kirk Nordstrom U.S. Geological Survey Menlo Park, California 94025

August 23, 1987

* current address: Studsvik Energiteknik AB, S-611 82 Nyköping, Sweden

CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1 The Finnsjön study site	2
2. COMPUTER PROGRAMS AND THERMODYNAMIC DATABASES	S 3
3. GROUNDWATER SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS	
3.1 Tritium contents and groundwater chemica	al
composition	5
3.2 pH measurements	8
4. SALINE CONSTITUENTS	8
4.1 Chloride distribution	8
4.2 Ionic ratios	9
4.3 Chloride correlations	10
4.4 Possible sources of salinity	14
5. NON-SALINE CONSTITUENTS	
6. SOLUTION-MINERAL EQUILIBRIA	
6.1 Carbonate minerals	19
6.2 Mixing of carbonate waters	24
6.3 Non-carbonate minerals	26
7. CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	31
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

ABSTRACT

Chemical and isotopic analyses of groundwaters taken from boreholes at the Finnsjön study site have been evaluated. The predominant rock type consists of granodiorite, and within the crystalline rock matrix, both the fracture network and its coating minerals have a large effect on the aqueous geochemistry of the site.

The tritium content of the samples has a positive correlation with total iron and organic carbon, and a negative correlation with Cl^- , Mn^{2+} and NH_4^+ . The very presence of this isotope in the waters is a strong indication that mixing of very young waters with older, deep waters has probably taken place during sampling.

The disagreement between the field and laboratory pH-values collected during 1979-1982 introduces a serious difficulty in the interpretation of that data.

Nevertheless, computer calculations with aqueous speciation models (WATEQ3 and EQ3NR) give a picture of the water-rock interactions. The mineral saturation indices of calcite, strontianite, rhodochrosite, and siderite show that the concentration levels of Ca^{2+} , Sr^{2+} , Mn^{2+} and Fe^{2+} are probably fixed by the aqueous carbonate system and its minerals. However, unreasonably high saturation indices of calcite (up to +1.7) confirm the uncertainties in the pH-values. Computer simulations with the EQ6 code show that $CO_2(g)$ outgassing/ingassing might have contributed errors in the pH measurements during the sampling procedure. EQ6 simulations also show that mixing of waters from different aquifers might have induced transient over- or undersaturation of carbonate minerals.

Equilibrium between groundwaters and fluorite and barite appear to fix the concentrations of F^- and Ba^{2+} respectively.

Some of the sampled groundwaters reach relatively high salinities (chloride levels of 6 $g \ l^{-1}$). The origin of the saline components is still uncertain. There are some similarities between the ionic ratios of Finnsjön waters and Stripa groundwaters. Specially, the saline waters sampled at borehole Fi8 (which intercepts the Gåvastbo fault) have as high Ca/Mg and Br/Cl ratios as Stripa waters, and the lowest sulfate concentrations, indicating a greater degree of mineral-water interactions and lower redox potential than the rest of the samples.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Swedish utilities with nuclear power stations are characterizing, through SKB^{*}, several sites as a preliminary step towards a complete safety assessment of a future repository of spent, un-reprocessed nuclear fuel (KBS-3, 1983; Karlsson, 1984; Bjurström and Papp, 1985). This report presents a geochemical interpretation of the deep granitic groundwaters of one of the sites: Finnsjön.

The most likely mechanism for release of radioactive elements from a deep bedrock repository to the biosphere is by transport in groundwater. Hence, geochemical studies are necessary to understand and estimate processes like radioactive element solubility, speciation, sorption on minerals, colloid formation, etc, all of which influence the amount of radioelements transported by groundwaters. An evaluation of the magnitude of these processes is also fundamental in judging and implementing numerical models of the rate of radioelement-groundwater transport through the hydrological system (i.e., the fracture network) in the crystalline bedrock that will surround the repository.

A comprehensive geochemical study of groundwaters in crystalline bedrock is also necessary to estimate the integrity towards corrosion and chemical changes of materials used in a nuclear repository (copper canister, bentonite buffer, concrete, etc).

Several geochemical studies of the deep groundwaters sampled in Swedish sites by SKB have already been reported (Jacks, 1978; Tullborg and Larson, 1983; Allard, 1982; Allard *et al.*, 1983; Smellie *et al.*, 1985; Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and the redox conditions at depth have also been studied (Wikberg *et al.*, 1983; Wikberg, 1985; Nordstrom and Puigdomènech, 1986). In the present study a special emphasis will be made on the description of rock-water interactions and aqueous speciation equilibria as calculated by sophisticated computerized models, because the complex chemical reactions taking place between metal ions and

*

Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co.

naturally occurring ligands in aquatic systems in contact with minerals, can only be evaluated with numerical computer calculations. Furthermore, this kind of speciation-solubility modelling has been somewhat neglected in previous reports (it must be noted however, that computer simulations have been reported for the evolution of typical groundwaters in contact with fuel matrix, canister material, bentonite buffer, and granitic bedrock (Grenthe *et al.* 1983; Fritz *et al.*, 1984; Fritz and Kam, 1985; Forsyth *et al.*, 1986)).

The Finnsjön study site is particularly interesting because some of the deep groundwaters sampled have high salinities (chloride concentrations up to 6 g/l). Hence, a geochemical description of this site will allow a better estimation of the geochemical consequences from changes in the hydrological or climatological conditions and the performance of a nuclear repository in crystalline bedrock.

1.1 The Finnsjön study site

The site is situated east of lake Finnsjön (about 140 km north of Stockholm). The topography, geology, hydrology and fracture zones have been previously reported (Almén *et al.*, 1979; Olkiewicz *et al.*, 1979; Carlsson *et al.*, 1980; Gustafsson and Klockars, 1981; Carlsson and Gidlund, 1983; Carlsson *et al.*, 1983; Magnusson and Duran 1984; Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and will only be shortly described here.

The topography is flat, between 40 and 20 m above sea level, with a general drainage direction towards the northeast. The Sveccofennian rock consists mainly of leptite, ultramafic and mafic rocks, granodioritic gneiss and granite. All boreholes are drilled in the zone where the granodiorite predominates. The main fracture zones can be described as follows: (a) the Gåvastbo fault that has a NNW direction, is situated at the eastern part of the site and is penetrated by borehole Fi8, (b) the Brändan lineament that has a NNE direction, intersects the Gåvastbo fault NE of hole Fi5, and is penetrated by boreholes Fi5 and Fi10, and (c) a subhorizontal fracture zone (Brändan Zone 2) intercepted by boreholes Fi5, Fi6, Fi9, Fi10 and probably Fi7 (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986). The most common fracture mineral is calcite (Tullborg and Larson, 1982; Larson and Tullborg, 1984), but prehnite, laumontite, chlorite, pyrite, wairakite-analcime, epidote, dolomite, and unidentified clay minerals are also present.

2. COMPUTER PROGRAMS AND THERMODYNAMIC DATABASES

Computerized models are necessary tools for quantitative geochemical modeling of mineral-groundwater interactions. The computer codes of such models are used to perform the complex calculations involved in simultaneously establishing multicomponent speciation, activity coefficient corrections, and mineral saturation indices for groundwaters of given analytical composition.

A large number of computer programs have been reported in the literature (Nordstrom and Ball, 1984). However, because the quality of any model for natural waters depends both on its thermodynamic data base, and on its model for activity coefficient corrections, the two computer programs used in this report, WATEQ3 (Truesdell and Jones, 1974; Ball et al., 1979, 1980, 1981; Nordstrom et al., 1984), and EQ3NR (Wolery, 1979, 1983, program version: 3245c51, with thermodynamic database 3245c24) were selected for the quality and documentation of their thermodynamic data bases. The activity coefficient corrections are made in both computer models according to extended Debye-Hückel equations (Truesdell and Jones, 1974, for WATEQ3; Helgeson, 1969, for EQ3NR). Both programs were used to check for consistency in the calculations and to identify any differences in the thermodynamic databases. The results from either program are nearly identical, and for purposes of plotting, the results of EQ3NR calculations were used unless otherwise indicated in the text. A listing and a comparison of both thermodynamic databases is given elsewhere (Nordstrom and Puigdomènech, 1986, 1987).

The mineral saturation indices that result from the computer calculations and that are reported in section 6, are defined as $log (IAP/K_{SP})$ where IAP is the ion activity product, and K_{SP} is the solubility product constant (see Drever, 1982, or Nordstrom and Munoz, 1985). Saturation indices greater than zero indicate that the mineral under consideration might precipitate from the

groundwater, while saturation indices lower than zero manifest that the mineral, if in contact with the groundwater, would have a tendency to dissolve. However, the calculations give no indication about the rate at which such processes might occur.

Simulations of groundwater mixing and $CO_2(g)$ ingassing were performed with the EQ6 reaction path modelling program (Wolery, 1979).

3. GROUNDWATER SAMPLING AND ANALYSIS

Analytical data for groundwaters sampled in deep boreholes (up to 700 m) was taken from two previous reports (Laurent, 1982; Ahlbom et al., 1986). Data for shallow boreholes (up to 130 m) has been reported by Gustafsson and Klockars (1981 and 1984) and Ahlbom et al. (1986). The sampling procedure and equipment used in the deep boreholes is described both in Laurent's report and by Wikberg (1985) and Almén et al. (1986).

The sampling procedure can be summarized as follows: several sampling zones, 2.7 *m* long, were sealed off with rubber packers at different levels of each borehole. Groundwater was pumped up and water samples were collected and sent for analysis to several laboratories, while pH was also measured in the field. For the most recent set of data (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986) many analyses were performed in the mobile chemical laboratory (Wikberg, 1985; Almén *et al.*, 1986).

Some deficiencies in the sampling procedures must be pointed out for the data collected in the period Aug-1979 to Feb-1982 (boreholes Fil to Fi8, reported by Laurent, 1982). Firstly, none of the water samples were filtered. This will affect the values of most trace metals (e.g. iron, aluminium, etc), and total organic carbon. There is also a considerable discrepancy between field and laboratory values of pH, which will be discussed below. Finally, the sealing of the sampling zones, and the pumping rates were probably inadequate (Smellie *et al.*, 1985). This resulted in contamination of the pumped waters with either residual drilling fluids, or recently recharged surface waters forced to deeper levels through fracture systems, or both. It must then be understood that most of the groundwaters considered in this report are a mixture of waters from different sources.

4

3.1 Tritium contents and groundwater chemical composition

In order to examine the effect of the contamination mentioned above, it is convenient to establish which of the chemical components of the analyzed samples might have their source in old groundwaters that have interacted with the bedrock for long periods of time, and which components have their origin in the contaminating waters. Tritium is a particularly useful radioactive isotope because of its relatively short half life (≈12.5 years). A measurable tritium content (> 3 TU) in a water sample indicates that either it is very young water (less than about 40 years old) or that young water has mixed with older water from a different source.

No apparent correlation is found between tritium content and depth of sampling in Finnsjön (Fig. 1a). However, as can be seen in Fig. 1b, most of the saline samples have tritium contents under the detection limit (i.e., ≤ 3 TU), and none of the waters with more than 1000 mg/l chloride have a tritium contents higher than 7 TU. This indicates that the source of chloride (and in fact, also of other major saline components: sodium, calcium, etc.) is not associated with the tritium rich contaminating water, which as mentioned above, was either residual drilling fluid, or surface waters forced to deeper levels through fracture systems, or both.



<u>Figure 1</u>. Tritium contents (in tritium units, 1 TU = $1 \frac{3}{H}/10^{18}$ hydrogen atoms) in the samples from deep boreholes, as a function both of depth, and Cl⁻ concentration.

Thus, the saline waters at depth appear to be fairly isolated from surface fresh waters. This is confirmed by NH_4^+ and Mn^{2+} which are both indicators of low redox potential, and have high correlation with waters with low tritium contents (c.f. Figs. 2a-b).

This is not the case, however, for the analytical data on total iron and total organic carbon (TOC), which as seen in Figs. 2c-d, have a clear positive correlation with the tritium contents, and therefore, their high values are due to the contaminating components. Low iron concentrations and low TOC are probably associated with high salinity for these groundwaters.

```
Ammonium / (mg/l)
```





TOC / (mg/1)

Manganese / (mg/1)

20

30

Tritium / TU

1.5m



<u>Figure 2</u>. Tritium contents in the samples from deep boreholes, as a function of some chemical components (NH_4^+ , Mn, Fe-total and TOC (total organic carbon)).



Figure 3. The difference between field and laboratory pH data plotted versus: a) depth, b) chloride, c) tritium contents, d) alkalinity, and e) pH_{field} and f) pH_{lab} values.

3.2 pH measurements

There is some disagreement between laboratory and field pH values for the earlier samples collected during the 1979-1982 period (Laurent, 1982). This is illustrated in Fig. 3, where it is seen that there is no clear correlation between the pH difference and such variables as sampling depth or chloride contents (c.f. Figs. 3a-b). Nevertheless, Figs. 3e-f show some relationship between ApH and the measured pH-values, specially with the field data (c.f. Fig. 3e). Even if we take an accuracy of +0.5 pH units as acceptable for the reported measurements, we have to consider reasons for a pH decrease in some of the data with pH_{field}>7.8 to pH_{lab}<7.8. A possibility indicated by Laurent (1982) is drift in the field measuring equipment. However, the data in Fig. 3c shows that all values with ⊿pH>0.5 have <15 tritium units, and therefore, the pH discrepancy has probably some relationship to the sampling procedure as well. The buffer capacity of most natural waters is a function of total carbonate and pH (Stumm and Morgan, 1981, p.175). As Fig. 3d shows, there is no correlation between ApH and the alkalinity of the groundwater samples, and the pH differences can not be ascribed to inherent difficulties in pH-measurements of waters with low buffer capacities.

An other possible contribution to the *ApH*-values found might be carbon dioxide outgassing/ingassing. This possibility is discussed later in sect. 6.1 ("Carbonate minerals", p. 19).

Because pH is a fundamental variable in aqueous chemistry, the lack of reliable pH data for most of the water samples has disastrous effects on the possibility of successful geochemical modelling of the site. The results of the computer calculations on mineral-solution equilibria in sect. 6, specially for carbonate minerals, are greatly affected by this uncertainty. Therefore, the discussion on the *ApH*-values will continue later in that section.

4. SALINE CONSTITUENTS

4.1 Chloride distribution

As Fig. 1b indicates, high chloride concentrations are associated with samples of low tritium contents. Furthermore, 14 C-ages up to 11000 years have been estimated for these waters

8

(Laurent, 1982). Figure 4 shows the dependence of chloride concentration on depth. Two kinds of boreholes are discerned, depending on their salt contents. The boreholes that penetrate the fracture zones Gåvastbo and Zone 2 (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986) show high salinities below the depth at which the fracture zones are penetrated (usually, ≈ 180 m, except for Fi7, where the probable intersection depth is the level at which high salinities have been reported by Ahlbom *et al.* (1986) i.e., ≈ 320 m). The Brändan Zone 2 fracture zone appears to have low hydraulic head, it discharges groundwater, and prevents mixing of the deep saline groundwaters with the shallow waters of recent meteoric origin (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986). The discharge along the Gåvastbo fracture zone (Gustafsson and Klockars, 1984) probably sets an eastern limit to the extent of the saline waters.

4.2 Ionic ratios

Ionic ratios may be used to classify and differentiate water types and their sources (White *et al.*, 1963). In Figure 5 the calcium to magnesium ionic ratio (by weight) is compared with the ratios for seawater and Stripa groundwaters. The waters pumped

Chloride / (g/l)



Figure 4. Chloride concentrations plotted against depth.

from borehole Fi8 clearly diverge from the rest of the Finnsjön groundwaters, and have ratios similar to those found in Stripa. Therefore, either the Fi8-waters (that are contained in the fractures of the Gåvastbo fault) have another origin, or they have another degree of evolution produced by either biological or rock-water interactions. Figure 6 shows the Ca/Mg vs Br/Cl ionic ratios (by weight) for the SKB study sites investigated. As seen, the Br/Cl ratios range from values close to seawater up to values approaching those found in Stripa. Based on the evidence provided by anion analysis of fluid-inclusions and microfracture fluids leached from Stripa drillcores, Nordstrom et al. (1985) has proposed that the source of salinity at the Stripa site is associated with fluid inclusion leakage rather than entrapped seawater. Figure 6 suggests that the same source of salinity may be affecting the composition of most of the groundwaters at Finnsjön.

An ion exchange mechanism on clay minerals might be a sink for sodium and a source of calcium (Jacks, 1973 and 1978; Mizukami *et al.*, 1977). In Figure 7, the ion activity product corresponding to the reaction:

 $2 \text{ Na}^+ + \text{Ca-clay} \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow} \text{Ca}^{2+} + \text{Na}_2-\text{clay}$ is plotted against chloride concentrations. The values found are similar to the ratios in other granitic groundwaters of Sweden (Jacks, 1973) and differ slightly from the values reported for waters in the Seikan tunnel ($\log \{\text{Ca}^{2+}\}/\{\text{Na}^+\}^2 = 0.23$, Mizukami et al., 1977).

4.3 Chloride correlations

Chloride is a convenient normalizing factor to define possible sources of other saline constituents. This is due to the fact that it is one of the most conservative anions in natural waters, as Cl⁻ is seldom involved in chemical processes like redox reactions and mineral dissolution or precipitation. Chloride also gives a clearer picture than depth, because as it has already been pointed out, it is associated with groundwaters that have a smaller amount of contaminating young components (c.f. Fig. 1), and therefore it is (at least in part) related to the age of the waters.

The alkaline and alkaline earth concentrations of the ground-



Figure 5. Plot of Ca/Mg ionic ratios (by weight) against chloride concentrations.



Figure 6. Plot of Ca/Mg against Br/Cl ionic ratios (by weight) for several SKB study sites.

waters are plotted against Cl⁻ concentrations in Figures 8 & 9.

Sodium, as well as chloride, often behaves in a conservative manner in hydrogeochemical processes. The Na-Cl correlation shown in Fig. 8 indicates that the main source of sodium is the same as that for chloride. A comparison with the seawater dilution line shows a loss of sodium compared to seawater, except for low chloride values, where a gain in sodium is observed. This might be due to the ion exchange mechanism referred to previously (c.f. p.10 and Figs. 7 & 9a). Lithium also shows an approximately linear dependence with chloride.

Potassium shows quite a different trend. The values are depleted relative to seawater, with a slight increase at high chloride values. The potassium contents of groundwaters is primarily regulated by rock-water interactions (feldspar weathering, cation exchange in clays, etc).

Calcium shows a behavior similar to that of sodium, i.e., an almost linear dependence with chloride ion concentration, although the values for calcium are much higher than the seawater dilution line. Magnesium concentrations are low, and probably fixed by the solubility of carbonate minerals. The lowest values are found in borehole Fi8.

 $\log \{Ca^{2+}\} - 2 \log \{Na^+\}$



Figure 7. Calcium / sodium activity ratio (log {Ca²⁺}/{Na⁺}²) plotted against chloride contents. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986) and shallow boreholes (triangles).

12

Strontium has a dependence upon chloride concentrations similar to that of sodium or calcium, while barium concentrations do not correlate with chloride. The concentration levels of these elements is probably regulated by mineral solubility equilibria (c.f. section 6).

Figure 10 shows the concentrations of F⁻, Br⁻, HCO₃⁻ and phosphate as function of chloride. The maximum levels of fluoride and bicarbonate, are controlled by calcium concentrations through fluorite and calcite solubility equilibria. Sulfate reducing bacteria decrease the water contents of this anion and produce sulfur and sulfide. The samples of Fi8 show the lowest $SO_4^{2-}/C1^-$ ratios, reflecting either a greater age, or increased bacterial activity, or both.



Sodium / (g/l)







Figure 8. Alkaline metal cation contents as a function of chloride concentration.

4.4 Possible sources of salinity

The salt contents of the groundwaters in the Finnsjön study site may have its origin in either (a) relict seawater, or (b) fluid inclusions, or (c) residual igneous/metamorphic fluids, or finally, (d) mineral alteration, or a combination of any of the four (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986).

The Ca/Mg and Br/Cl ionic ratios (c.f. Figs. 5-6) have intermediate values between seawater and the groundwaters sampled at the Stripa mine (Nordstrom *et al.*, 1985), where the Br/Cl and I/Cl ratios of the groundwaters were found to coincide with the ionic ratios of the fluid inclusions in the Stripa granite. The

```
Calcium / (g/l)
```



Magnesium / (mg/l)





Barium / (µg/l)



Figure 9. Alkaline earth contents as a function of chloride concentration.

similarity between the Finnsjön and Stripa ionic ratios is higher for the samples taken from borehole Fi8, which runs trough the Gåvastbo fault. Iodide has only been analyzed for borehole Fi9 (Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and the I/Cl gravimetric ratios ((13 ± 2) $\cdot10^{-6}$) are again intermediate between seawater and groundwaters from Stripa. The values of the ionic ratios seem to indicate that fluid inclusion and microfracture fluid leaching may have contributed to the groundwater salinity.

On the other hand, the chloride correlations shown in Figs. 8-9 have close resemblance to the correlations found in the Seikan tunnel in Japan (Seki *et al.*, 1986), where seawater has interacted



Bromide / (mg/l)





Sulfate / (mg/1)

2

з



Figure 10. Fluoride, bromide, bicarbonate and phosphate contents as a function of chloride concentration.

00

 \circ

ater dil. line

5

Chloride / (g/l)

6

with volcanogenic andesitic tuffs, and the chemical composition has been affected by cation exchange on clays. The modified seawater has increased its calcium content, and decreased sodium, potassium and magnesium concentrations, except at low salinities, where an increase of sodium (with respect to the seawater dilution line) was found (compare with Fig. 8). Similar trends are also found in granitic groundwaters, as in the Stripa mine (Nordstrom *et al.*, 1985), the Carnmenellis granite (Edmunds *et al.*, 1984), the Canadian shield (Frape *et al.*, 1984), and Värmdö (Jacks, 1973).

It appears that groundwaters in crystalline rocks, and some other geochemical environments, are characterized by high calcium contents, and low potassium and magnesium concentrations. These common chemical compositions are the result of changes imposed by rock-water interactions at low temperature during long periods of time on waters which originally had different compositions. As the chemistry of the groundwaters might be independent of its original composition, the source of chloride remains open to debate, and invites future isotopic studies.

5. NON-SALINE CONSTITUENTS

Boron and phosphate concentrations are plotted in Figure 11 versus chloride contents. Phosphorous levels show no special trend with chloride and might be regulated by solubility equilibria of phosphates of divalent metals (Ca^{2+} , Mn^{2+} , etc). There is no trend either for boron with chloride, indicating that the concentrations of boric acid might be regulated by adsorption processes.

The concentrations of iron and manganese are also plotted in Figure 11 as a function of chloride concentrations. High values for total iron at low chloride concentrations (and high tritium values, c.f. Fig. 2) are due to contamination of the sampling zone by fresh waters rich in $O_2(g)$ and $CO_2(g)$, which induced the production of Fe(III), mainly from weathering of fissure filling sulfide and silicate minerals (White and Yee, 1985). Any Fe(III) resulting from the oxidation reactions is immediately precipitated, at the pH values of the groundwaters, as suspended amorphous hydroxide particles or as a coating on mineral grains etc (Whittemore and Langmuir, 1975; Singh and Subramanian, 1984).

16



Figure 11. Groundwater concentrations of phosphate, boron, total iron, manganese, total organic carbon (TOC) and nitrogen species (NO3⁻, NO2⁻ and NH4⁺) versus [C1⁻].

The particles that were pumped up, were subsequently dissolved during the acid sample preservation and gave unrealistic results (up to 30 mg/l) of total "dissolved" Fe.

Manganese is soluble only as Mn(II) species, and in its higher oxidation state, Mn(IV), it forms very insoluble oxides (Stumm and Morgan, 1981, p. 433). Although erroneously high values for the analyzed Mn-concentrations might be an artifact from the fact that most of the samples were not filtered, the highest values are found (c.f. Fig. 11) in samples with high chloride and low tritium contents (c.f. Fig. 2). These are the waters where low redox potentials are expected to prevail, and therefore, waters in which the solubility of manganese minerals would be expected to be higher. From an inspection of the Fe and Mn correlations with chloride (c.f. Fig. 11), the conclusion is reached that either there are no suspended particles containing manganese hydroxides, or the particles that contain iron hydroxides are deficient in Mn.

Several experimental studies have shown the importance of humic compounds on the distribution of trace metals in natural aqueous environments (Davies-Colley *et al.*, 1984; Davis and Leckie, 1978; Laxen, 1985). In Finnsjön organic matter has a negative correlation with chloride and tritium (c.f. Figs. 2 & 11), and high values have their source in contaminating superficial waters.

Nitrogen compounds have a special importance to SKB's nuclear waste management program because copper is planned to be used as canister material, and because of the impact that nitrate has on copper corrosion (Mattsson, 1980; Francis, 1985) and the importance of ammonia on the thermodynamic stability of copper (Rickard, 1970a and 1970b). The chemistry of nitrogen compounds in natural environments can produce several oxidation states, including NH_3/NH_4^+ , R-NH₂, $N_2(g)$, $N_2O(g)$, NO_2^- and NO_3^- . Transformations between the different nitrogen compounds is catalyzed by different bacteria species (Reddy and Patrick, 1984). Nitrate in groundwaters usually originates from either industrial waste or fertilizers, and in Finnsjön the higher $[NO_3^-]$ -values are found at low chloride concentrations (Fig. 11), where the samples have a larger contamination of superficial waters, and the redox potentials are expected to be higher. Ammonium is found in silicate minerals replacing potassium (Stevenson, 1962), and might be produced by reduction (decay of $R-NH_2$ to NH_3) of organic nitrogen (Stanford *et al.*, 1975). In Finnsjön, the higher values for ammonium concentration are found in samples of low tritium (Fig. 2) and high chloride (Fig. 11). Ammonium also correlates positively with manganese (Fig. 12). This is due to the fact that both Mn(II) and ammonium are only thermodynamically stable in reducing conditions (Emerson *et al.*, 1979).

6. SOLUTION-MINERAL EQUILIBRIA

6.1 <u>Carbonate minerals</u>

Calcite is the most common fracture filling mineral in the Finnsjön site, and complete studies have been reported of their chemical and isotopic composition (Tullborg and Larson, 1982; Larson and Tullborg, 1984). Carbonate minerals are important because of their pH-buffering capacity, and fracture sealing potential. The saturation indices of calcite and other carbonate minerals are shown in Figs. 13 and 14. The values of $log(IAP/K_{sp})$ higher than ≈ 1.0 are unreasonable, and must be due to either erroneous pH-values or analytical errors. A variation of $pH=\pm0.5$ corresponds to a variation in the saturation index of ±0.4 (just

Ammonium / (mg/l)



Figure 12. Groundwater levels of ammonium plotted against manganese(II) concentrations

for comparison, we can mention here that an error in the temperature of 8°C gives only a variation in $log(IAP/K_{sp})$ of ± 0.09). Analytical errors would give random and smaller variations in the saturation index of calcite.

The systematic undersaturation for strontianite (c.f. Fig 14) indicates that the solubility control for strontium could be a solid solution of Sr²⁺ in calcite (Stumm and Morgan, 1981, p. 291). The same might be true for the other carbonates, although the scatter in the analytical data (c.f. Figs. 13 and 14) does not allow any definite conclusion.



Figure 13. Saturation indices of carbonate minerals plotted as a function of field pH. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986); and shallow boreholes (triangles).

The discrepancy between field and laboratory pH, which is shown in Figure 3, introduces a serious uncertainty on the saturation indices of carbonate minerals. The fact that high pH differences correspond to samples with low tritium values (c.f. Fig. 3c) indicates that the most affected samples are old groundwaters with little or no contamination of superficial waters.

One of the possible reasons for the ΔpH -values, is $CO_2(g)$ outgassing/ingassing due to measurement delays, both in the field and in the laboratory. The effect of 10% $CO_2(g)$ outgassing in



Figure 14. Saturation indices of carbonate minerals plotted as a function of chloride concentrations. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom et al., 1986); and shallow boreholes (triangles).

water samples with alkalinities of 310 or 210 mg/l, would be an increase in either 0.35 or 1.0 pH units respectively (Pearson et al., 1978).

The pH differences shown in Figure 3 would thus indicate a greater $CO_2(g)$ ingassing of the samples in the laboratory as compared with the ones in the field (or alternatively, a greater outgassing of the field samples as compared with the lab. samples).

The ingassing hypotheses is supported by the fact that calculated log p_{CO_2} has the lowest values (c.f. Fig. 15) in waters with high pH (and high Δ pH, c.f. Fig. 3e). Furthermore, lower values than the atmospheric level (log p_{CO_2} = -3.48) are not expected after an outgassing process.

On the other hand, calcite saturation indices seem to support the outgassing possibility, which can be visualized by simulating the reverse reaction, i.e., an addition of $CO_2(g)$ to an actual sample. Figure 16 shows the effect (calculated with the EQ6 computer program (Wolery, 1979)) of $CO_2(g)$ increase on sample Fi4 800123 (247 m depth) which has $pH_{field}=9.1$, $\Delta pH=1.3$ and a saturation index of 1.74 (one of the largest values).



Figure 15. Calculated values of CO₂(g) partial pressure plotted against field pH. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and shallow boreholes (triangles).

After an addition of $7 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mol/l (i.e., a $\approx 12\%$ increase in total inorganic carbon) the pH has decreased to ≈ 7.8 (the value measured in the laboratory), and the partial pressure of $CO_2(g)$ has reached values well above atmospheric levels. Calcite saturation is reached after an addition of $1.3 \cdot 10^{-3}$. The results of the simulation shown in Fig. 16, indicate that carbon dioxide



Figure 16. Results of an EQ6 simulation showing the effect of $CO_2(g)$ addition on sample Fi4 800123 (247 m).

outgassing might have contributed to the abnormal calcite saturation indices and to the *ApH*-values observed.

However, since the tendency for most field pH values is to be greater than the pH_{lab} values (c.f. Fig. 3e), $CO_2(g)$ ingassing is likely to be the dominant process, and some calcite supersaturation must be considered real.

6.2 Mixing of carbonate waters

Mixing of groundwaters from different aquifers might generate non-linear under- or oversaturation of minerals (Runnells, 1969). Particular attention has been given to mixtures of waters containing dissolved carbonate species (Plummer 1975, Wigley and Plummer 1976). If the mixing of groundwaters takes place immediately before sampling, a transient over- or undersaturated condition is created for carbonate minerals like calcite, etc. Even the measured pH in the field might then differ from the laboratory values if enough time has elapsed and mineral precipitation (or particle dissolution) has occurred.

Laurent (1982, p. 3-4) makes some comments on "deviant sampling zones", and the possibility of drilling water dilution, specially for Fi4 at 247 m. We have made a simulation (again with the EQ6 program (Wolery, 1979)) of a mixing process between a non-

<u>Table I</u> .	Chemical composition (mg used as end-members in t presented in Figure 17.	the two waters the two waters the EQ6 mixing simulation
pH SO4 ²⁻ HCO3 ⁻ C1 ⁻ Na ⁺ Ca ²⁺ Mg ²⁺ * value	Non saline water (≈Fi4, ≥247 m) 7.7 45.0 324.3* 130.0 184.36 25.0 5.0 es giving saturation with	Saline groundwater (≈Fi5, 384 m) 7.7 320.0 16.25* 5600.0 1536.5 1800.0 100.0 calcite.

. . . saline water and a saline groundwater (c.f. Table 1). Both waters were assumed to be in equilibrium with calcite, and to have the same pH. The results of the EQ6 calculations are shown in Figure 17, which clearly demonstrates that calcite oversaturation may be obtained. In particular it should be noted that calcite saturation indices as high as 0.7 are obtained for a mixture containing only 10% of the saline groundwater. The simulation also illustrates the fact that pH, $CO_2(g)$ partial pressure, and calcite



Figure 17. Results of an EQ6 simulation showing the effect of mixing the groundwaters given in Table 1.

saturation index are not linearly dependent on the global mixture composition.

The simulation presented in Figure 17 should not be taken as a thorough study of the possible effects of groundwater mixing in the Finnsjön site. Both super- and undersaturation conditions (as well as pH increase and decrease) might be achieved from mixtures of appropriate end-members (Wigley and Plummer, 1976).

6.3 Non-carbonate minerals

The activity of silica is shown in Figure 18. The data imply saturation with cristobalite. However, a steady state silica concentration could also be reached by opposed dissolution and precipitation reactions of aluminosilicate minerals (Lassaga, 1981, p. 11).

The relative stability of weathering mineral products is shown in Figure 19. Most of the waters fall into the kaolinite field, except for potassium where many groundwaters appear to be stable with the feldspar. It should be noted however, that there is some uncertainty in the values plotted in Figure 19: errors in pHvalues will give corresponding deviations in the data plotted in the diagrams.

$$\log \{SiO_2(aq)\}$$



Figure 18. Activity of silica plotted as a function of depth. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom et al, 1986), and shallow boreholes (triangles).



Figure 19. Phase relations in the systems HCl-H₂O-(Al₂O₃)-SiO₂-CaO/MgO/Na₂O/K₂O at 25°C (adapted from Bowers *et al.*, 1984). Saturation limits: quartz (<u>a</u>), amorphous silica (<u>b</u>), wollastonite (<u>c</u>, in calcium diagram), brucite (<u>c</u>, in magnesium diagram), talc (<u>d</u>), and antigorite (<u>e</u>). For the magnesium diagram, metastable 7-Å chlinochlore is considered instead of its stable counterpart 14-Å chlinochlore. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and shallow boreholes (triangles).



Figure 20. Saturation indices of fluorite, barite, MnHPO₄(cr), and the aluminum-containing minerals gibbsite, kaolinite and laumontite. Data for both deep boreholes (squares: Laurent, 1982; stars: Ahlbom *et al.*, 1986), and shallow boreholes (triangles).

The calculated saturation indices for barite $(BaSO_4(cr))$, fluorite $(CaF_2(cr))$, and $MnHPO_4(cr)$ are shown in Figure 20, together with the saturation indices of gibbsite $(Al(OH)_3(cr))$, kaolinite $(Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4(cr))$ and laumontite $(Ca(Al_2Si_4O_{12}) \cdot 4H_2O(cr))$, zeolite group).

Except for one value, all the values for fluorite suggest that fluoride concentrations are limited by the equilibrium reaction with this mineral. Fluorite saturation is also found in Stripa groundwaters (Nordstrom *et al.*, 1985) and other Swedish groundwaters (Jacks, 1978). The same is true for the barium concentrations, which are regulated by the solubility of the sulfate.

The phosphate concentrations reported by Ahlbom *et al.* (1986) are systematically lower than the values reported previously. This affects the saturation indices of the phosphate minerals, including the manganese phosphate shown in Figure 20. It is uncertain whether this is due to the difference in sampling methods and analytical procedures or due to geochemical differences of the groundwater aquifer sampled. This is a point that should be further investigated, because phosphate is one of the ligands of most importance for uranium transport in the groundwaters of the SKB study sites.

Aluminum concentrations appear to be slightly high, as shown by the oversaturations plotted in Figure 20. However, errors in pH and sampling procedures might influence the results of the calculations even in this case because of the strong pH-dependence of Al^{3+} hydrolysis.

7. CONCLUSIONS

Because of problems during groundwater sampling of most of the waters in Finnsjön, the geochemical interpretation of the site is limited.

However, the following points have been established:

o - the Ca/Mg and Br/Cl ionic ratios of the saline samples show some similarities with Stripa groundwaters, specially for the Fi8 borehole, which at the same time shows the lowest SO_4^{2-} concentrations, indicating lower redox potentials. This borehole penetrates the Gåvastbo fault, and the groundwaters sampled here might have gone through a different hydrological pathway than the waters sampled in the other boreholes.

- o the disagreement between field and laboratory pH measurements collected during 1979-1982 introduces a serious difficulty for the geochemical interpretation of the data. Unnaturally high saturation indices for calcite (up to +1.7), confirm the uncertainties in the groundwater pH-values.
- o simulations with the EQ3NR/EQ6 computer codes show that CO₂(g) degassing/ingassing during sampling may have caused errors in the measured pH values, and ingassing appears more likely
- o the high tritium contents of the waters is a good indication that mixing of young waters or drilling fluids with old waters has probably taken place during sampling. Tritium concentrations have a positive correlation with total iron and organic carbon, and a negative correspondence with chloride, manganese and ammonium.
- o simulations of groundwater mixing (calculated with the EQ3NR/EQ6 code package) show that mixing during sampling (due to high pumping rates and/or insufficient borehole packing) may have induced transient over- or undersaturation of carbonate minerals
- o saturation indices (calculated with the EQ3NR and WATEQ3 computer models) for calcite, strontianite, rhodochrosite and siderite show that the concentrations of Ca^{2+} , Sr^{2+} , Mn^{2+} and Fe^{2+} might be limited by carbonate mineral-groundwater interactions
- o EQ3NR and WATEQ3 computer calculations show that most of the groundwaters appear to be in equilibrium with fluorite and barite

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the Department of Earth Sciences of the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory that kindly allowed one of us (I.P.) access to computer facilities and computer codes. Thanks are also given to the same Department for a copy of a preliminary 3245-release of the EQ3/6 code and database package which allowed us to make the EQ6 simulations in a VAX computer in Stockholm.

Prof I. Grenthe and Dr P. Wikberg (at the Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm) have contributed with their support and manuscript revisions.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ahlbom, K.; Andersson, P.; Ekman, L.; Gustafsson, E.; Smellie, J. and Tullborg, E-L. (1986) Preliminary investigations of fracture zones in the Brändan area, Finnsjön study site. SKB Techn. Report <u>86-05</u>, 155 pp.
- Allard, B. (1982) On the pH-buffering effects of the CO₂-CO₃²⁻ system in deep groundwaters. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>82-25</u>, 16 pp.
- Allard, B.; Larson, S.Å.; Tullborg, E-L. and Wikberg, P. (1983) Chemistry of deep groundwaters from granitic bedrock. SKBF/KBS Techn. Report <u>83-59</u>, 47 pp.
- Almén, K-E.; Ekman, L. and Olkiewicz, A. (1979) Försöksområdet vid Finnsjön. Beskrivning till berggrunds- och jordartskartor. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>79-02</u>, 46 pp.
- Almén, K.E.; Andersson, O.; Fridh, B.; Johansson, B-E.; Sehlstedt, M.; Gustafsson, E.; Hansson, K.; Olsson, O.; Nilsson, G.; Axelsen, K. and Wikberg, P. (1986) Site investigation. Equipment for geological, geophysical, hydrogeological and hydrochemical characterization. SKB Techn. Report <u>86-16</u>, 141 pp.
- Ball, J.W.; Jenne, E.A. and Nordstrom, D.K. (1979) WATEQ2 a computerized chemical model for trace and major element speciation and mineral equilibria of natural waters, in <u>Chemical modeling in aqueous systems</u> (ed. E.A. Jenne), A.C.S. Symp. Series No. <u>93</u>; Amer. Chem. Soc.: Washington, D.C., p. 815-835

- Ball, J.W.; Nordstrom, D.K. and Jenne, E.A. (1980) Additional and revised thermochemical data and computer code for WATEQ2 - a computerized chemical model for trace and major element speciation and mineral equilibria of natural waters. U.S. Geol. Survey, Water Resources Invest. WRI 78-116, 109 pp.
- Ball, J.W.; Jenne, E.A. and Cantrell, M.W. (1981) WATEQ3 a geochemical model with uranium added. U.S. Geol. Survey Open-File Report <u>81-1183</u>, 81 pp.
- Bjurström, S. and Papp, T. (1985) Swedish nuclear high-level waste program - key research areas. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. <u>50</u>, 9-15
- Bowers, T.S.; Jackson, K.J. and Helgeson, H.C. (1984) <u>Equilibrium</u> <u>Activity Diagrams for Coexisting Minerals and Aqueous</u> <u>Solutions at Pressures and Temperatures to 5 kb and 600°C.</u> Springer-Verlag, 397 pp.
- Carlsson, L.; Gentzschein, B.; Gidlund, G.; Hansson, K., Svenson, T. and Thoregren, U. (1980) Kompletterande permeabilitetsmätningar i Finnsjöområdet. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport 80-10, 52 pp.
- Carlsson, L. and Gidlund, G. (1983) Evaluation of the hydrogeological conditions at Finnsjön. SKB/KBS Techn. Report <u>83-56</u>, part I, p. 1-71.
- Carlsson, L.; Windberg, A. and Grundfelt, B. (1983) Model calculations of the groundwater flow at Finnsjön, Fjällveden, Gideå and Kamlunge. SKBF/KBS Techn. Report <u>83-45</u>, 208 pp.
- Davies-Colley, R.J.; Nelson, P.O. and Williamson, K.J. (1984) Copper and cadmium uptake by estuarine sedimentary phases. Environ. Sci. Technol. <u>18</u>, 491-499
- Davis, J.A. and Leckie, J.O. (1978) Effect of adsorbed complexing ligands on trace metal uptake by hydrous oxides. Environ. Sci. Technol. <u>12</u>, 1309-1315
- Drever, J.I. (1982) <u>The Geochemistry of Natural Waters</u>, Prentice Hall Inc., 388 pp.
- Edmunds, W.M.; Andrews, J.N.; Burgess, W.G.; Kay, R.L.F. and Lee, D.J. (1984) The evolution of saline and thermal groundwaters in the Carnmenellis granite. Mineral. Mag. 48, 407-424
- Emerson, S.; Cranston, R.E. and Liss, P.S. (1979) Redox species in a reducing fjord: equilibrium and kinetic considerations. Deep-Sea Res. 26A, 859-878
- Forsyth, R.S.; Werme, L.O. and Bruno, J. (1986) The corrosion of spent UO₂ fuel in synthetic groundwater. J. Nucl. Mat. <u>138</u>, 1-15
- Francis, R. (1985) Effect of pollutants on corrosion of copper alloys in sea water. Part 1: ammonia and chlorine. Br. Corros. J. 20, 167-174

- Frape, S.K.; Fritz, P. and McNutt, R.H. (1984) Water-rock interaction and chemistry of groundwaters from the Canadian Shield. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta <u>48</u>, 1617-1627
- Fritz, B.; Kam, M. and Tardy, Y. (1984) Geochemical simulation of the evolution of granitic rocks and clay minerals submitted to a temperature increase in the vicinity of a repository for spent nuclear fuel. SKB/KBS Techn. Report <u>84-10</u>, 27 pp.
- Fritz, B. and Kam, M. (1985) Chemical interactions between the bentonite and the natural solutions from the granite near a repository for spent nuclear fuel. SKB Techn. Report <u>85-10</u>, 24 pp.
- Grenthe, I.; Puigdomènech, I. and Bruno, J. (1983) The possible effects of alfa and beta radiolysis on the matrix dissolution of spent nuclear fuel. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>83-02</u>, 36 pp.
- Gustafsson, E. and Klockars, C-E. (1981) Studies on groundwaters transport in fractured crystalline rock under controlled conditions using non-radioactive tracers. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>81-07</u>, 58 pp.
- Gustafsson, E. and Klockars, C-E. (1984) Study of strontium and cesium migration in fractured crystalline rock. SKBF/SKB Techn. Report <u>84-07</u>, 39 pp.
- Helgeson, H.C. (1969) Thermodynamics of Hydrothermal Systems at Elevated Temperatures and Pressures. Amer. J. Sci. <u>267</u>, 729-804
- Jacks, G. (1973) Chemistry of some groundwaters in igneous rocks. Nordic Hydrol. <u>4</u>, 207-236
- Jacks, G. (1978) Ground water chemistry at depth in granites and gneisses. KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>88</u>, 28 pp.
- Karlsson, F. (1984) Investigation of groundwater composition in relation to spent nuclear fuel disposal. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. <u>26</u>, 209-218
- KBS-3 (1983) Final storage of spent nuclear fuel KBS-3. SKBF/SKB, Stockholm Sweden
- Larson, S.Å. and Tullborg, E-L. (1984) Stable isotopes of fissure-filling calcite from Finnsjön, Uppland, Sweden. Lithos <u>17</u>, 117-125
- Laurent, S. (1982) Analysis of groundwater from deep boreholes in Kråkemåla, Sternö and Finnsjön. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>82-23</u>, 40 pp.
- Lasaga, A.C. (1981) Rate laws of chemical reactions. In <u>Reviews in</u> <u>Mineralogy, Vol. 8: Kinetics of Geochemical Processes</u> (eds. A.C. Lasaga and R.J. Kirkpatrick); Mineralogical Society of America; Washington, D.C.; pp. 1-68

- Laxen, D.P.H. (1985) Trace metal adsorption/coprecipitation on hydrous ferric oxide under realistic conditions: the role of humic substances. Water Res. 19, 1229-1236
- Magnusson, K-Å. and Duran, O. (1984) Comparative study of geological, hydrological and geophysical borehole investigations. SKBF/KBS Techn. Report 84-09, 146 pp.
- Mattsson, E. (1980) Corrosion of copper and brass: practical experience in relation to basic data. Br. Corros. J. 15, 6-13
- Mizukami, M.; Sakai, H. and Matsubaya, O. (1977) Na-Ca-Cl-SO₄-type submarine formation waters at the Seikan Undersea Tunnel, Japan. Chemical and isotopic documentation and its interpretation. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 41, 1201-1212
- Nordstrom, D.K.; Valetine. S.D.; Ball, J.W.; Plummer, L.N. and Jones, B.F. (1984) Partial compilation and revision of basic data in the WATEQ programs. U.S. Geol. Survey, Water-Resources Invest. Report 84-4186, 40 pp.
- Nordstrom, D.K. and Ball, J.W. (1984) Chemical models, computer programs and metal complexation in natural waters. in <u>Complexation of Trace Metals in Natural Waters</u> (eds. C.J.M. Kramer and J.C. Duinker); Martinus Nijhoff/Dr J.W.Junk Publishers, p. 149-164
- Nordstrom, D.K.; Andrews, J.N.; Carlsson, L.; Fontes, J-C.; Fritz, P.; Moser, H. and Olsson, T. (1985) Hydrogeological and hydrogeochemical investigations in boreholes - Final report of the Phase I geochemical investigation of the Stripa groundwaters. Stripa Project Tech. Report 85-06, p. 4:20-5:33
- Nordstrom, D.K. and Munoz, J.L. (1985) <u>Geochemical Thermodynamics</u>, Benjamin/Cummings, 477 pp.
- Nordstrom, D.K. and Puigdomènech, I. (1986) Redox chemistry of deep groundwaters in Sweden. SKB Techn. Report 86-03, 37 pp.
- Nordstrom, D.K. and Puigdomènech, I. (1987) Geochemical interpretation of groundwaters from Svartboberg, Fjällveden and Gideå, Sweden. SKB Techn. Report (in preparation)
- Olkiewicz, A.; Scherman, S. and Kornfält, K-A. (1979) Kompletterande berggrundsundersökningar inom Finnsjö- och Karlshamnsområderna. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport 79-05, 158 pp.
- Pearson, F.J.; Fisher, D.W. and Plummer, L.N. (1978) Correction of ground-water chemistry and carbon isotopic composition for effects of CO₂ outgassing. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta <u>42</u>, 1799-1807
- Plummer, L.N. (1975) Mixing of sea water with calcium carbonate ground water. Geol. Soc. Amer. Memoir <u>142</u>, 219-236

- Reddy, K.R. and Patrick, W.H. (1984) Nitrogen transformations and loss in flooded soils and sediments. CRC Crit. Rev. Environ. Control <u>13</u>, 273-309
- Rickard, D.T. (1970a) A note on the effect of ammonia on the solubility of some copper minerals. Stockholm Contrib. Geol. <u>21</u>, 77-87
- Rickard, D.T. (1970b) The chemistry of copper in natural aqueous solutions. *Stockholm Contrib. Geol.* <u>23</u>, 1-64
- Runnells D.D. (1969) Diagenesis, chemical sediments and the mixing of natural waters. J. Sediment. Petrol. 39, 1188-1201
- Seki, Y.; Dickson, F.W.; Liou, J.G.; Oki, Y.; Sakai, H. and Hirano, T. (1986) Geochemical prediction of impending catastrophic inflow of seawater during construction of the undersea part of the Seikan Tunnel, Japan. Applied Geochem. <u>1</u>, 317-333
- Singh, S.K. and Subramanian, V. (1984) Hydrous Fe and Mn oxides -Scavengers of heavy metals in the aquatic environment. CRC Crit. Rev. Environ. Control <u>14</u>, 33-90
- Smellie, J.; Larsson, N-Å.; Wikberg, P. and Carlsson, L. (1985) Hydrochemical investigations in crystalline bedrock in relation to existing hydraulic conditions: experience from the SKB test sites in Sweden. SKB Techn. Report <u>85-11</u>, 351 pp.
- Stanford, G.; Legg, J.O.; Dzienia, S. and Simpson, E.C. (1975)
 Denitrification and associated nitrogen transformations in
 soils. Soil Sci. 120, 147-152
- Stevenson, F.J. (1962) Chemical state of the nitrogen in rocks. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta <u>26</u>, 797-808
- Stumm, W. and Morgan, J.J. (1981) <u>Aquatic Chemistry. An introduc-</u> <u>tion emphasizing chemical equilibria in natural waters</u>. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 380 pp.
- Truesdell, A.H. and Jones, B.F. (1974) WATEQ, a computer program for calculating chemical equilibria of natural waters. U.S. Geol. Survey J. Res. 2, 233-248
- Tullborg, E-L. and Larson, S.Å. (1982) Fissure fillings from Finnsjön and Studsvik, Sweden. Identification, chemistry and dating. SKBF/KBS Tekn. Rapport <u>82-20</u>, 76 pp.
- Tullborg, E-L. and Larson, S.Å. (1983) Fissure fillings from Gideå, central Sweden. SKBF/KBS Techn. Report <u>83-74</u>, 45 pp.
- White, A.F. and Yee, A. (1985) Aqueous oxidation-reduction kinetics associated with coupled electron-cation transfer from iron-containing silicates at 25°C. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta <u>49</u>, 1263-1275

- White, D.E.; Hem, J.D. and Waring, G.A. (1963) Chemical composition of subsurface waters. U.S. Geol. Survey Prof. Paper 440-F, 67 pp.
- Whittemore, D.O. and Langmuir, D. (1975) The solubility of ferric oxyhydroxides in natural waters. Ground Water <u>13</u>, 360-365
- Wigley, T.M.L. and Plummer, L.N. (1976) Mixing of carbonate waters. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* <u>40</u>, 989-995
- Wikberg, P. (1985) The assessment of reducing conditions at depth in granitic rock. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp. Proc. <u>50</u>, 137-144
- Wikberg, P.; Grenthe, I. and Axelson, K. (1983) Redox conditions in groundwaters from Svartboberget, Gideå, Fjällveden and Kamlunge. SKBF/KBS Techn. Repport <u>83-40</u>, 27 pp.
- Wolery, T.J. (1979) Calculation of chemical equilibrium between aqueous solution and minerals: the EQ3/6 software package. <u>UCRL-52658</u>. Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, California 94550, 41 pp.
- Wolery, T.J. (1983) EQ3NR, a computer program for geochemical aqueous speciation-solubility calculations: User's guide and documentation. <u>UCRL-53414</u>, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, California 94550, 191 pp.

List of SKB reports

Annual Reports

1977–78 TR 121 **KBS Technical Reports 1 – 120.** Summaries. Stockholm, May 1979.

1979

TR 79–28

The KBS Annual Report 1979. KBS Technical Reports 79-01 – 79-27. Summaries. Stockholm, March 1980.

1980

TR 80-26

The KBS Annual Report 1980.

KBS Technical Reports 80-01 – 80-25. Summaries. Stockholm, March 1981.

1981

TR 81-17

The KBS Annual Report 1981.

KBS Technical Reports 81-01 – 81-16. Summaries. Stockholm, April 1982.

1982

TR 82-28

The KBS Annual Report 1982.

KBS Technical Reports 82-01 – 82-27. Summaries. Stockholm, July 1983.

1983

TR 83-77

The KBS Annual Report 1983.

KBS Technical Reports 83-01 – 83-76 Summaries. Stockholm, June 1984.

1984

TR 85-01

Annual Research and Development Report 1984

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1984. (Technical Reports 84-01–84-19) Stockholm June 1985.

1985

TR 85-20

Annual Research and Development Report 1985

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1985. (Technical Reports 85-01-85-19) Stockholm May 1986.

1986

TR86-31

SKB Annual Report 1986

Including Summaries of Technical Reports Issued during 1986 Stockholm, May 1987

Technical Reports

1987

TR 87-01

Radar measurements performed at the Klipperås study site

Seje Carlsten, Olle Olsson, Stefan Sehlstedt, Leif Stenberg Swedish Geological Co, Uppsala/Luleå February 1987

TR 87-02

Fuel rod D07/B15 from Ringhals 2 PWR: Source material for corrosion/leach tests in groundwater

Fuel rod/pellet characterization program part one

Roy Forsyth Studsvik Energiteknik AB, Nyköping March 1987

TR 87-03

Calculations on HYDROCOIN level 1 using the GWHRT flow model

- Case 1 Transient flow of water from a borehole penetrating a confined aquifer
- Case 3 Saturated-unsaturated flow through a layered sequence of sedimentary rocks
- Case 4 Transient thermal convection in a saturated medium

Roger Thunvik, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm March 1987

TR 87-04

Calculations on HYDROCOIN level 2, case 1 using the GWHRT flow model Thermal convection and conduction around a field heat transfer experiment

Roger Thunvik

Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm March 1987

TR 87-05

Applications of stochastic models to solute transport in fractured rocks

Lynn W Gelhar Massachusetts Institute of Technology January 1987

TR 87-06

Some properties of a channeling model of fracture flow

Y W Tsang, C F Tsang, I Neretnieks Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm December 1986

TR 87-07

Deep groundwater chemistry

Peter Wikberg, Karin Axelsen, Folke Fredlund Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm June 1987

TR 87-08

An approach for evaluating the general and localized corrosion of carbon steel containers for nuclear waste disposal

GP March, KJ Taylor, SM Sharland, PW Tasker Harwell Laboratory, Oxfordshire June 1987

TR 87-09

Piping and erosion phenomena in soft clay gels

Roland Pusch, Mikael Erlström, Lennart Börgesson Swedish Geological Co, Lund May 1987

TR 87-10

Outline of models of water and gas flow through smectite clay buffers

Roland Pusch, Harald Hökmark, Lennart Börgesson Swedish Geological Co, Lund June 1987

TR 87-11

Modelling of crustal rock mechanics for radioactive waste storage in Fennoscandia—Problem definition

Ove Stephansson University of Luleå May 1987

TR 87-12

Study of groundwater colloids and their ability to transport radionuclides

Kåre Tjus* and Peter Wikberg** *Institute for Surface Chemistry, Stockholm **Royal Institute of Technology, Inorganic Chemistry Stockholm March 1987

TR 87-13

Shallow reflection seismic investigation of fracture zones in the Finnsjö area method evaluation

Trine Dahl-Jensen Jonas Lindgren University of Uppsala, Department of Geophysics June 1987

TR 87-14

Combined interpretation of geophysical, geological, hydrological and radar investigations in the boreholes ST1 and ST2 at the Saltsjötunnel

Jan-Erik Andersson Per Andersson Seje Carlsten Lars Falk Olle Olsson Allan Stråhle Swedish Geological Co, Uppsala 1987-06-30